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though he had passed his whole life at the desk, 
afterwards recruiting and commanding the corps of 
Guides; and, lastly, taking part in the operations 
before Delhi, volunteering for every enterprise in 
which life could be hazarded or glory could be won.
He crowded into the brief space o f eleven eventful 
years the services and adventures of a long life. He 
died when his reward was assured, obtaining only 
that reward which he most coveted— the conscious­
ness of duty done, and the assurance of enduring 
military renown.”

“ There was not a man before Delhi who did 
not know Hudson,” remarked the writer of son > 
excellent papers in ‘ Blackwood’s Magazine ’ ; 
“ always active, always cheery, it did one’s heart 
good to look at his face when all felt how critical 
was our position. Ask any Soldier who was the 
bravest man before Delhi, who most in the saddle, 
who foremost ? and nine out of ten in the infantry 
will tell you Hodson, in the artillery as many will 
name Tombs.

“ 1 once heard one o f the Fusiliers say, ‘ When­
ever i sees Captain Hodson go out, I always prays 
for him, for he is sure to be in danger.’ Yet it 
was not only in the field that Hodson was to be 
valued, his head was as active as his hand was 
strong, and I feel sure, when we who knew him 
heard of his death, not one but felt that there was
a vneanev indeed in our ranks.”*/

“ Major Hodson,” wrote the ‘ Times/ “ has been 
from the very beginning of this war fighting every­
where1. and against any odds with all the spirit 
of a paladin of old. His most remarkable exploit, 
the capture of the King of Delhi and his two sons,
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astonished the world by its courage and coolness.
Hod son was indeed a man who, from his romant i c 
daring and his knowledge of the Asiatic character, 
was able to beat the natives at their own weapons.
We could better have spared an older and more 
Highly placed officer.5’

The impression which Hudson made upon those 
who knew him intimately may be gathered from 
the picture drawn of him by the lady from whom 
I have already quoted:—

“ There was an indescribable charm of manner 
about him, combining all the gentle playfulness of 
the boy, the deep tenderness o f the woman, and 
the vigorous decision of the soldier.

“ His powers of attraction extended even to 
animals; and it was touching to see his large 
white Persian cat following him from room to 
room, escaping from the caresses of others to nestle 
by him. I have often watched the pretty creature 
as he threw himself exhausted with the day’s work 
on an easy-ehair or sofa, rubbing himself against 
ids master, whisking the long white tail against 
his fair moustache, and courting the endearments 
liberally bestowed. Restless with others, pussy was 
at rest i f  established by him.

“ At Delhi there was a wild shy little kitten 
which fled from every one else, but mewed provok- 
ingly whenever he appeared— would jump on his 
knee with all the familiarity of an old friend.

With his horses he had the same power o f 
domestication. They yielded to the sound of his 
voice with the instinct that seemed to convey to 
all that in him they had found master and 
friend. . . .
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“ His joyousness o f nature made him the most 

charming companion. There, was a certain quaint­
ness o f expression which gave sieat to all lie said; 
and yet there was a reverence, too, so that, were 
subjects graver than usual introduced even by 
allusion, they at once commanded his earnest 
response/'’

(<J admired h im /’ writes Sir Charles Gough, “ for 
Ms gallantry in leading; his abounding energy, 
activity, and resource in difficulties; his coolness 
in danger; and his genial, cheerful, and kindly 
disposition,” 1

Many years afterwards a distribution o f  prizes 
occurred at the Martiniere College, near Hodsonh 
last resting-place. A reference made by the Prin­
cipal to Hodson of Hodson.’s Horse as the genius 
loci, and to the slanderous attacks made upon him, 
was followed by a speech from General M. Dillon, 
thus reported in a local newspaper: “ A? one who 
knew him in the field, and as one who was 
intimately associated for many years with the 
greatest soldier of the time, General Sir Robert 
Napier, now Lord Napier o f  Magdala, 1 am in 
a position not only to give m y own opinion, but 
to state that General Napier was on the most 
Ultimate terms with Hodson during almost the 
whole of the career o f that dashing soldier, and 
that he had the highest opinion o f him. I have 
no hesitation in characterising the attacks that have 
been made, in the face too of the verdict of such 
a soldier as Lord Napier o f Magdala, as ungenerous, 
unwarrantable, and atrocious.” 2

1 Letter quoted in * Blackwood’s M agazine' for March 18&9,
1 Hodson of Hod son’s Horse.
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In a letter of October 1885 to General Mitlord 
the same officer writes: i( Lord Napier, who had 
known him in an administrative capacity and in 
the field, held him in the highest esteem, -as did 
also Sir Henry Lawrence, We know what the 
army thought o f him— I would that there were 
many like him to lead and set the example which 
be gave to us.”

To the last Lord Napier o f Magdala retained his 
old belief in Hodson’s moral worth. Writing to his 
friend’s biographer in November 1883, ho says:
“  I am much obliged for the perusal o f your 
preface to the new edition of your Memoir o f your 
brother. I am now, as I have always been, fully 
convinced of hie honour and integrity.” To the 
same effect Sir James Outram, a man as shrewd 
as he was generous, had borne his testimony shortly 
niter Hodson’s death. "  I was a great admirer of 
Hudson,” he wrote to his brother, “  and gave no 
credit to the stories against him.”

Among Hodson’s warmest admirers was the late 
George C. Barnes, who, as Commissioner of the ,Cis- 
Satlaj States, had done excellent, service from the 
Very outset of the Mutiny. Like many other of 
John Lawrence’s men, he had been strongly preju­
diced against Hudson by the stories current after 
Hodson’s dismissal from the command of the Guides 
-  stories founded, as we have seen, upon the virtual 
suppression of Eeynell Taylor’s report. His eyes 
had since been opened to the truth by Mr Sloggett’s 
timely explanations, who had been invited to meet 
a large company of officers and civilians at his 
house,

“  In the course of conversation,” says Mr Sloggetf,

/ > E ' ?°W\ ' , '' : ' ‘ ' ■' * 11 , • ■ •.
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“ having just opened at the table some letters brought 
in from Delhi, he said, ‘ So ! Hodson has been at his 
old tricks again.’ I thought it only right to rise 
and ask for an explanation, and finding that all Mr 
Barnes had heard of and alluded to were those I 
have mentioned and one other I will presently 
explain, I told him and the others present about 
Reynell Taylor’s report, which none of them had 
heard o f ; the purchase of the house at Umbala, and 
the Rs. 10,000 charge.

“ The fourth was as follows: Some two months 
before Delhi fell he was sent to destroy a small fort 
which was being armed against us by a native chief.
On bis way he met another hostile chief with an 
array of armed men, much outnumbering his own, 
whom he defeated after a sharp but short conflict.
The chief himself was one of the first to fall, shot 
through the heart, and as Hodson returned after 
the pursuit, over the field, he saw something glitter 
on the ground and picked up a very beautiful and 
valuable jewelled ornament, a golden butterfly, 
soiled and dented by its fall upon the hard ground.
This he brought and gave to his wife, who was fond 
of displaying it, wi th the dirt still adhering. After­
wards she -wore it, and from this the story spread 
that it had been looted by him at Delhi, where I 
had seen it two months before the city fell, and 
knew, for I heard the story confirmed by others, the 
true account of its possession.

“ After giving this explanation Mr Barnes thanked 
me very warmly, and set himself from that time to 
make Hodson’s acquaintance, and this in such a 
friendly spirit that he came to be looked upon as 
one of his best and warmest friends. And not he

z
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only, but all the men I knew who got intimate with 
Hodsoii liked him, and did not believe the many 
stories to his prejudice— which by others, because 
o f his very reputation, were too often carelessly 
repeated, and became, however unintentionally, 
magnified in the repetition. . . .

“ And I can say this much, that there was 
nothing apparently mean or low about him. With 
all his faults and his arbitrary character, he was a 
high-minded man, fearlessly outspoken in Ms judg­
ment o f many who were only too likely to have his 
words brought back to them.” 1

“  His faults we have already seen,” sums up the 
able writer in 1 Blackwood’s Magazine ’ for March 
1.899 ; “ they were enumerated years before his 
death by his best friend, Henry Lawrence. But it 
was to his good points, just those so Well set forth 
by his old subaltern, that he owed the lifelong 
friendship of such men as Robert Napier, Robert 
Montgomery, and Thomas Seaton; and to these 
characteristics too it was that he owed the love and 
the admira tion o f his men. As in the corps o f Guides, 
so in his own regiment o f Horse he was the object 
not only o f respect but o f veneration. To this day 
the few remaining of those who served under him, 
and the sons of those who served under him, speak 
o f him by the title given him by the old King o f 
Delhi— Hudson Sahib Bahadur. His corps of Horse 
has long since been split up into the 9 th and 10th 
regiments o f Bengal Lancers, and the latter has been 
honoured by receiving the title o f Duke o f Cam­
bridge's Own ; but no matter how they may be 
officially known, or what titles may be given them,

1 M S, letter from Rev, C, Sioggett.
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the name which they never forget, and which they 
most delight to honour, is that o f Hodson’s H orse/’"

What more remains to say concerning this great 
gifted soldier, who had gone through so many 
crowded hours of glorious life during those twelve 
years of Indian service, and had died, like his com­
peer Nicholson, at an age when few men have clearl y 
learned how best to realise the promise o f their 
youth ? To such a question no answer need, I think, 
be given here. The impartial reader o f this Memoir 
will at least he able to judge for himself how far f 
have failed or succeeded in clearing the fair fame of 
William .Hudson from the obloquy which assailed it 
during his lifetime, and has continued to blacken 
and disfigure it ever since his death.
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/*Vom Major Meynell G. Taylor, late Commandant of Guide 
Corps, to Major J. D. Maepherson, Mily. Secy, to Chief 
Commissioner, Lahore, Dated Jkelum, Feb. 13, 1856.

SlRf—  in accordance with the instructions contained in your 
letter, No. 3369, o f the 10th N ovem ber, I have the honour 
to report, for the inform ation of the Chief Commissioner, 
that the result of m y exam ination o f Lieutenant H od son’s 
accounts has been quite satisfactory.

2. The period em braced is from  the 10th  o f M arch 1853 
to the close o f 1851. Lieutenant H odson  succeeded to the 
com m and o f the Guide Corps at an earlier period than the 
first-named d a te ; but at that time the accounts were kept 
by the adjutant, and Lieutenant H odson first assumed 
direct m anagem ent o f the regimental accounts on the above 
date— nam ely, the 10th o f  M arch 1853— on which occasion 
he received a distinct balance in cash from  Lieutenant 
Turner, and also an open statement showing the sums 
which he, L ieutenant Turner, believed to  be claim able from 
the chest and due to i t : this open statement I shall notice 
elsewhere,

3. Com m encing with the cash balance received from 
lieu ten an t Turner, the accounts were carried on as pre­
viously in a general day-book  em bracing all transactions, 
written for the first (1 3 ) thirteen m onths by M oonshee 
N ujjuf A lice , one o f the regimental moonshees. A s this 
man subsequently becam e Lieutenant Hodson 5s accuser, 
and strove to throw discredit on his ow n account, it is
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this period o f (.1.3) thirteen m onths that has required the 
m ost careful and sifting exam ination,

4. From  the1- 4th of A p r il 1854 to the close o f the same 
year the day-book  was kept by  the other regim ental moori­
sh ee, G-oordeal, and as audited hills for (9 ) nine m onths 
1853 and January 1854 were on ly received in February 
1854, and contained a large am ount o f retrenchm ents, 
w h ich  had to be gradually adjusted in the subsequent 
portion o f the account, the exam ination o f the records 
o f the rem aining (8 ) eight m onths cou ld  hardly be con ­
sidered less im portant than that o f the first (1 3 ) th irteen ; 
hut from  the fact o f the accounts having been kept in 
better form , with more collateral books o f detail to  sup­
p ort and explain  them , their scrutiny was m ore rapidly 
accom plished.

5. Besides the above current accounts, L ieutenant H od- 
son, soon after taking com m and o f the regiment, caused a 
transcript o f the available Persian records to be made by 
one M oonshee Bachee L all in  the H in d i character. This 
transcript was set about w ith  the express ob ject o f obta in ­
in g  a more correct and detailed kn ow ledge o f all previous 
transactions than was furnished by  the accounts w hich had 
been kept first b y  Lieutenant H awes (in  E nglish) and then 
by his successor, L ieutenant Turner (in  Persian), which, 
though good records o f the receipts and disbursem ents 
w hich  had passed through the hands o f  those officers, were 
no evidence o f the real financial state o f the regim ent, as 
they had never been balanced periodically, and w hen m ade 
over furnished no detail o f the balance then in hand.

6. It  was, then, in the hope o f thoroughly clearing the 
account from  end to end, and obtaining a detail o f the 
balance for w hich  he was liable, that Lieutenant H udson 
set M oonshee Bachee Lall to  work at his transcript o f  the 
accounts, and he first w rote out the cash-book kept by 
Suhadfir Peer Buksh, then that by M unaw ar A lice  under 
Lieutenant Turner's supervision, then N u jju f A lice ’s ow n, 
the transcript o f which, after being brought up to date, was 
continued from  day to day as a check.

APPENDIX A. 3 5 7
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7. A n  attempt to com plete a khata or balanced account 
from  Peer B uksh's d a y -book  failed, and that the main 
object o f the original effort was unsuccessful is best evi­
denced by the fact o f its not having been yet accom plished ; 
and after Lieutenant H odson, Lieutenant G odby, and m y­
self have sat in  voluntary com m ittee on the accounts for 
some months, w e are unable to give the details o f a large 
portion o f the balance o f the chest at the close o f .1854, 
or say whether the m oney belongs to the form er com ­
mandant, M ajor Lumsden, or to Governm ent. The pre­
sumption is that to a great extent the former is the case, 
as that officer is known to have taken less than bis vine 
on many occasions. It am ounts to this, that Lieutenant 
Hawes, on m aking over the accounts to Lieutenant Turner, 
took  his receipt for an actual cash balance o f about 4500 
rupees, but did not or was unable to furnish him w ith any 
detail of i t ; and you  will see that a similar sum remains in 
the chest as an undetailed balance after a general clearance 
o f the accounts.

8. This was the nature o f the account to which L ieu­
tenant Hodson succeeded— everything know n to be in the 
main correct, but the whole unbalanced and undetailed j 
and it must be recorded that he did not, on first obtaining 
com m and of the Guides, form ally examine and take charge 
o f the accounts. He had long been connected with the 
regiment, and knew  all the difficulty and confusion that 
had been caused in its paym ent by a long period o f 
ubiquitous service, during which its numerous] detachments 
had been paid by  the various officers to whom they had 
been tem porarily attached, causing a constant and m ost 
troublesom e system  of adjustm ent from the headquarters, 
which latter were also usually on the m ove, and the com ­
manding officer obliged to take frequent advances from  
politica l or c iv il treasuries. H e knew, from the character 
o f the men that had been connected w ith the regiment, 
that everything, as X have said above, m ust be in the main 
sound and c o r r e c t ; and having ju st attained the ch ief 
ob ject of his am bition, he felt no inclination to make objec-
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tioii and clamour about a state of things which he knew 
to be, to a great extent, unavoidable, and to which his mind 
was accustomed.

9. I  have tried to describe simply my own idea of the 
state of feeling under which Lieutenant Hodson omitted to 
do what was certainly his natural and obvious duty on the 
occasion of taking command. The omission, o f course, 
rendered him materially responsible for all clear and ascer- 
tained claims that might arise ; and the result was injurious 
to him, as it led to sums of m oney being spoken of as due 
by the chest,, concerning which, from his vague and ill- 
defined knowledge o f the balance for which he was really 
answerable, he was unable to feel certain o f his own 
liability until the whole accounts, from beginning to end, 
had been examined and. balanced.

10. When Lieutenant Hodson did turn his attention to 
the accounts, he made considerable efforts to understand and 
make a clearance of them. I  do not say but that these 
efforts might have been more determined and sustained, 
but the task was not an easy one, and Lieutenant Hodson 
believed that he would have leisure for its com pletion.

11. His own accounts meantime continued to be written 
in one general cash-book, which has proved to have been 
a correct record o f all transactions; but unfortunately this 
was never balanced periodically, and hence the time and 
trouble occupied in finally adjusting his account.

12. And here I  must remark that Lieutenant Hodson 
must be considered to have furnished a correct statement of 
all transactions during the period o f his command, when he 
gave in an English translation of his cash-book in April last.
H e subsequently prepared a balanced account o f the whole 
period from this cash-hook, which was submitted to the 
Chief Commissioner, and finally sent to me for examination 
and verification. I  caused its dissection, and examined the 
minutest details o f every item, and found some errors and 
some necessity for rearrangement o f the various heads of 
credit and d e b it ; but this did not in the least aifect the 
correctness o f the original day-book, and the two must not
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be confounded. A ll the labour bestow ed on the preparation 
o f a balanced account has on ly  had the effect o f thoroughly 
testing the va lid ity  o f the original book , and that I  consider 
satisfactorily  established. That the task of throw ing the 
whole in to  the form  o f a balanced ledger, after a rigid 
scrutiny o f all details, has cost tim e and trouble in 
unpractised hands, cann ot affect its character as a true 
record.

13. I t  was for the correctness o f the cash -b ook  that 
Lieutenant H odson vouched in his letter to you, No. 43, 
dated Peshaw ar, 21st o f M arch 1855, as is d ea r  from  the 
contents o f paragraphs five and six  o f that le tter ; but I 
have good  reason (n o t  derived from  Lieutenant Hodson 
h im self) to  believe that the voucher contained in th e latter 
part o f paragraph six  above alluded to  was subsequently 
supposed to apply to the sum m ary statement o f  assets, 
liabilities, and balance for which y ou  called on him , by the 
Chief C om m issioner’s directions, in you r letter, N o. 142, of 
the 4th o f A p ril 1355, and 151, o f the 9th idem, and which 
being hastily com piled by the raoonshees, and taken  from 
the result o f their w ork by  Lieutenant H odson, as stated in 
the second paragraph o f his letter (N o . 62, dated Peshawar,
11th of A p r il 1855) forw arding it, proved  in  a great m easure 
to be incorrect and useless. Should the above m isconcep­
tion have occurred, it m ay well have to ld  most unfavourably 
for Lieutenant H odson , as the appearance o f the matter 
would be that he had prom ised to furn ish  an account which 
should stand any test, and subsequently subm itted one 
which was in several points incorrect, and on being 
addressed by the deputy judge advocate-general on the 
subject, w rote  back declaring that h e  had never vouched 
for its correctness.

14, Y o u  w ill know  w hether this gam e of cross-purposes 
really o ccu rred : the probability  o f its  having done uo only 
became know n to L ieutenant H odson a t  the same tim e  that 
it did to  m yself, as he was not present when the above- 
mentioned abstract statem ent was exam ined by the court o f 
inquiry.

’ coi x
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15. I  shall here briefly enumerate th e  causes w hich  led 
to doubt being cast upon the accounts, I believe them  all 
but one to adm it of satisfactory explanation by the accounts, 
and T therefore think it  fair to Lieutenant Hudson to notice 
them  in detail.

16. jFirst, Lieutenant Turner, the adjutant o f the regi­
ment, expressed a belief that a duffadar, who had taken his 
discharge, had not been fairly treated concerning a horse 
purchased from  him by  Lieutenant H od son ; and further, 
that the Chunda fund o f the regim ent had suffered by  the 
same transaction.

17. Secondly, M oonshee N u jju f A llee  asserted that l i e u ­
tenant H odson bad in A ugust 1853 taken a large sum —  
about 3000 rupees — out o f the regim ental chest for his ow n 
purposes, when, from  the fact o f his pay having be -a  
retrenched m the pay-office, he had no funds to draw upon.

18. Thirdly, The same m oonshee claim ed a sum o f (C om ­
pany ’s rupees 270) Com pany's rupees tw o hundred and 
seventy as due to him  by account from  the chest, and also 
made tw o other claims on Lieutenant H odson himself-— one 
for (C om pany’s rupees 65 ) C om pany’s rupees s ix ty -f iv e  
personal pay, and another for (C om pan y ’s rupees 8 5 ) C om ­
pany’s rupees eighty-five on account o f stationery, &e., for 
the office.

If). Fourthly, The same man insinuated that Lieutenant 
H odson had defrauded G overnm ent o f  the pay of deceased 
men, deserters, dism ounted sowars, fines, &c.

20. Fifthly, M oonshee N u jju f A llee, w hen called upon  to 
prove his ch ief allegation by his own accounts, declared 
that alterations had been m ade in the book since it left his 
hands.

21. S ixth ly , N u jju f A lic e ’s cash-book alluded to proved, 
when exam ined before the court of inquiry , to be so fu ll of 
erasures and corrections that it was pronounced unfit to be 
received as evidence.

22. Seventhly, I t  was apposed that there were not funds 
to cover certain considerable sums o f m oney w hich it was 
know n should he in the chest.
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22. Eighthly, At the time of the sitting of the court a 
number of claims were preferred by soldiers and others for 
sums of money due to them on various accounts, and other 
miscellaneous matters which appeared to hear unfavourably 
on the accounts were mentioned before the court of inquiry.

24. I shall notice these eight heads in order as briefly as 
I can, hut it is nob easy in a case like this to be concise 
and intelligible at the same time.

25. First- then, with regard to the case of Feroze Khan, 
ditffadar, with the chief circumstances of which the Chief 
Commissioner is familiar, I need only report that I have 
carefully examined the various payments and repayments 
in the case, and believe them to be correct and true 
entries.

26. Thus Lieutenant Hudson was to give Feroze Khan, 
dvffadar, (Company’s rupees 150) Company's rupees one 
hundred and fifty for his horse, or another of equal
value.

27. On the 19th of December Lieutenant Hudson 
advanced him (Company’s rupees 150) one hundred and 
fifty from, his private account when he was proceeding to 
Clinch to look for a horse.

28. On returning from Chuch unsuccessful Feroze Khan 
repaid this (Company’s rupees 150) Company’s rupees one 
hundred and fifty into the chest, and the sum, instead of 
being recredited to Lieutenant Hudson, was erroneously 
credited to Feroze Khan as a deposit.

29. On the 13th of January Lieutenant llodson paid to 
Azadgul Khan, duffcular, (Company’s rupees 200) Company’s 
rupees two hundred from his private account for a horse 
purchased from him, and which had previously been made 
over to Feroze Khan in lieu of the 150-rupee horse taken 
from him.

30. Feroze Khan took his discharge from the 31st of 
January, and was paid up in full on the 3rd of March, at 
Which time pay for January had not, however, been received, 
lieutenant llodson on this occasion repurchased the 200- 
rupee horse for the regiment, and advanced the money
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himself, as the Chanda could not buy the horse till pay 
was received. At this time Feroze Khan received the 
original sum of 150 rupees standing incorrectly in his 
name as & deposit in the chest, and another 50 rupees 
made up as follows: 49 rupees paid to him by Lieutenant 
Hod son’s own servant, and 1 rupee from his private 
account in the chest. It was the entry of this 49 rupees 
in a memorandum attached to the payment of 1 rupee on 
the 3rd of March which the1 Chief Commissioner drew my 
attention to as the only item, bad as the state of Nujjttf 
Allee’s book was, that appeared to him really suspicious.
I have, therefore, carefully examined this, as well as the 
previous entries, and though they are as irregular and out 
of rule as they can be, I cannot under the circumstances, 
and after having acquired a certain familiarity with Nujjuf 
Allee’s style of book-keeping, regard any one of them as 
auspicious. The irregularity consists in the subjunction of 
explanatory notes; but as this appears to have been the 
moonshee's usual system, and as it is so very natural a one 
for a man whose natural calling was certainly not that of 
an accountant to pursue when his chief object was to keep 
a record that he should himself be able to understand, and 
when, in all probability, he may often not have fully under­
stood the nature of a payment till some time after it had 
been made, that I cannot think that the fact of the entries 
being irregular and explained by notes invalidates their 
testimony.

31. In the case of the 49 rupees above noted, Lieutenant 
Hod son’s recollection of the matter is, that when Feroze 
Khan was going he had to receive 200 rupees for the horse.
The 150 rupees was paid him from deposit, and Lieutenant 
Hodson told an orderly whom he believed to have that 
amount of his in his charge to pay him the other 50. This 
last sum, when counted by Feroze Khan, was found to be 
short by 1 rupee, which lieutenant Hodson then ordered 
the ruoonshee to give him from his account in the chest.
The payment of 1 rupee to Feroze Khan from Lieutenant 
Flodson’s private account appears on the same day that
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Feroze Khan received his other balances; and to it is 
attached a note to the effect that Feroze Khan had really 
received 50 rupees, 40 of which had been paid by Lieutenant 
Hudson himself. Nujjuf Allee denied having added this 
note, but the natives who had condemned his book before 
the court decided that the handwriting of the note was 
certainly his

32. It must be remembered that the duffadar who sold 
the 200-rupee horse given to Feroze Khan, and another 
duffadar who eventually received it after Feroze Khan’s 
departure, are present with the regiment, while the whole 
circumstances of the case are known to so many that there 
is no room for the supposition that the truth has not been 
arrived at. Add to this that Feroze Khan himself, when 
questioned by the court, professed himself quite satisfied as 
far as his money dues were concerned; for I believe the 
root of the whole matter to have been that he had no mind 
to part with his original horse, and that he did not like the 
higher-priced horse given him in place of it half as well.
It appears, however, that Lieutenant Hudson did give him 
opportunities of saying this if he wished it, but he did not 
avail himself of them, though perhaps at heart dissatisfied.

33. With regard to the idea that the Ohunda fund had 
suffered by having to purchase a 200-rupee horse instead 
of a 1.50-rupee one, which without some explanation 'might 
have an injurious effect with those who have no exact 
knowledge of the working of a Chunda fund, I would put 
the case thus :—

34. Setting aside the case of a commanding officer, who 
had letter have nothing to do with a transaction of the 
kind, suppose a subordinate officer to wish to purchase a 
horse from a sowar in the ranks, and to apply to his com­
manding officer for permission to do so, he would probably, 
if he obtained leave, be directed to be careful to give the 
man a full and fair price for the horse, or an equally good 
one in its place, would he not then be thought to have 
done the thing handsomely* if he gave a 200-rupee horse 
in place of a 150-rupee one? And would not the whole
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transaction be considered to have closed there as far as the 
subordinate officer was concerned ? A n d  if the sowar who 
had received the 200-rupee horse subsequently took Ms 
discharge, and the commanding officer resolved on purchas­
ing the horse for the regiment, no injury would be done to 
the regimental fund ; the lesser and the higher priced horse 
are both supposed to be worth their money, and each to 
have their respective value in the market, and the com ­
manding officer may of course purchase any horse within 
the price fixed by Governm ent that he thinks w ill be an 
acquisition to the regiment. I  hope I  have explained my 
meaning, and that the Chief Commissioner w ill agree in 
m y view of the ease.

35. Secondly, N ujjuf A llee ’s chief allegation against 
Lieutenant Hudson— namely, that he had iri August 1853 
taken a large sum out o f the chest, about 3000 rupees, and 
in the subsequent months o f the year “ hundreds of rupees,*' 
when, through a retrenchment in the pay-office, he had no 
funds to draw upon— must fall to the ground before the 
fact that, owing to the transfer of the regiment from the 
civ il to the military department, so great delay took place 
in the audit of the pay abstracts of the regiment that 
a single statement, including eight months' pa of the 
regim ent—-namely, from April to November 1853— was 
only received from the pay-office in February 1854, and 
those o f Decem ber 1853 aud January 1864 were received 
a few  days later in the same month, making the audit 
of ten m onths’ pay received at the regiment all in one 
month.

36. The pay-bills for Novem ber and Decem ber 1852 and 
January 1853 were received subsequently even to the 
above—-nam ely, in A pril 1854— from the civil auditor; so 
that the audit of thirteen months was received in the 
course of three months, though the whole o f these m onths' 
pay was received in advances from the civil treasury at 
Pesh&war; and Lieutenant Hodson, tike others, received 
the full amount o f his pay, and Nujjuf A llee ’s own account 
shows that he never exceeded i t  The retrenchment
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spoken of by the moonshee certainly occurred, but it dated 
from the 29th of August, when Lieutenant Hodson went 
on lea v e ; and the pay statement and notice ot retrench­
ment only having been received in February 1854, Lieu­
tenant Hodson knew nothing about it till that date. His 
pay was only then held in abeyance for a confirmation of 
his leave.

37. With regard to the three sums claimed by Nujjuf 
Alien, two claims seem to have been grounded in truth and 
were settled. The third, for a sum of 270 rupees, would 
not, I think, be gained in a civil court; but were it so, the 
money would have to be recovered from Dr Lyell, to whom 
it has been paid, and to whom it appears to have been due 
by account.

38. Nujjuf Alley’s fourth allegation sounds serious; but 
it amounts to this, that proper records of the estates of de­
ceased men and deserters and of fines had not been kept 
up, so that the money received remained in the undefined 
balance of the chest, while dismounted sowars had, until 
orders were received for a different course, invariably re­
ceived full pay. In both these instances all that can be 
said is that Lieutenant Hodson had failed to improve upon 
the hitherto prevailing custom of the regiment. It will be 
remembered that one of Feroze Khan’s causes of discontent, 
mentioned by him to Moonshee Nujjuf Allee, was that he 
heard that he was to receive dismounted pay for the time- 
he had been looking for a horse, which had nob hitherto 
been the custom; as it was, I believe he was about the 
last that received full pay for the period during which be 
was dismounted under the old system. During lieutenant 
Hodson’s command the casualties were very few in number. 
While Nujjuf Allee was in charge of the accounts, (6) six 
casualties by decease and desertion occurred, and (7) seven 
instances of fines, some of which latter were remitted.

39. It is hardly necessary to notice the fifth point, as in 
the only instance in which Nujjuf Allee particularised an 
entry as not his own, the competent natives who had con­
demned his book before the court of inquiry decided dis-
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tuicfcly that the note appended was in his handwriting.
In the original payment of 200 rupees for the horse pur­
chased for Feroije Khan, where his repudiation of the note 
attached might have been of importance, Nujjuf Allee, 
when questioned by the court, allowed that the explanatory 
note was his, but asserted that Lieutenant Hodson had no 
funds of his own in the chest at the time—an assertion 
siifficiently answered by the refutation of his chief charge,

40. On the sixth b -d, if Nujjuf Alice’s day-book be 
regarded as a regimental account liable to audit, I can say 
nothing in defence of it, as it is so cobbled and amended 
that it is wholly unfit for evidence; but it is an improve­
ment on its predecessor kept by Subadar Peer Buksh, 
which was seen by the members of the court of inquiry 
and impounded by them; and further, taken as a memor­
andum of all his transactions (which is, I believe, the true 
light in which it should be viewed), it is a good and well- 
cletailed one, as is evidenced by its having been feasible to 
prepare a correct balanced account from it.

41. Besides his day-book, Nujjuf Alice also kepc up 
nominal pay distribution rolls, written in his own hand 
with a steel pen: these have been, at the expense of s >mo 
time and difficulty, compared with the scattered entries in 
the day-book and found to correspond throughout. In fact,
I found no room for continuing a suspicion of the correct­
ness of Nujjuf Alice’s book, and it appears that when it 
suited him he himself appealed to it as unchallengeable; 
and further, its genuineness as a record is greatly estab­
lished by the transcript made by Moonshee Bachee Lali, 
which was concluded before the period when Nujjuf Alice 
got into disgrace, of which fact lieutenant Godby and my­
self have taken copious evidence.

42. On the seventh point has chiefly hinged the opinion 
at one time prevalent, that Lieutenant Hodson was a de­
faulter in account. It was known, in the first instance, 
that Lieutenant Lumsden had never made use of his com­
mand allowance, and therefore that the accumulations of 
it, amounting to a considerable sum, ought to be in the
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chest. Lieutenant H odson had also received clothim r com ­
pensation from  the Governm ent for the years 1852-58 
and 1853-54, which would amount to Com pany's Rs, 4000, 
and yet from  the appearance o f th ings there was small 
hope o f the assets of the cheat being sufficient to m eet 
these dem ands; the actual cash balance was very small, 
the outstanding assets were unknown, and Lieutenant H od- 
son, when naturally called upon to explain the state of 
things, conscious o f the fact I  have before stated, o f his 
having no clearly defined knowledge of the nature o f th., 
balance he had received, could on ly  reiterate the con v ic ­
tion, which he had always had, that all was correct and 
capable o f eventual dem onstration to be so ; but with re ­
gard to the account prior to his comm and, that he could 
not say positively what sum s there were available in the 
chest on this or that head until all had been sifted and 
exam ined from first to last I  confess I  do not w onder at 
the fact o f a tribunal o f officers used to regular regim ental 
accounts not being as sanguine as Lieutenant H odson was 
about the ultimate solvency o f the regimental ch e s t ; but 
the excuse I should be inclined to put forward for L ieuten­
ant H odson is, that under the circum stances o f the case 
the account could not be viewed as a mere regim ental one.
Large sums had been advanced from  the chest for  a public 
work, and other difficulties had occurred so com pletely  out 
of com m on course that com m on rules could scarcely be 
applied to them.

43. X have before noticed the open statement of recoverable 
assets and liabilities made over by  Lieutenant Turner to 
Lieutenant H odson on the 1 Oth o f M arch 1853 : this did not 
profess to  be an in fallib le sketch o f the state o f things, but 
hq approxim ation ; the result, how ever, has been that items 
to the amount o f 1001 rupees, unnoticed in Lieutenant 
Turner’s memorandum, were collected, while sums, am ount­
ing in all to Com pany’s Rs. 2071, were disbursed in excess of 
what Lieutenant Turner had believed to be due, Thus at 
the time o f the sitting o f the court any claims on Lieutenant 
Hodson, based on the supposed balance made over to him
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when he took up the management o f the cheat, would have 
been liable to considerable d im inution ; but when questioned 
by  the court Lieutenant H odson had only a genera! idea 
that something o f the above nature had occurred. He was, 
however, conscious that he had made no direct disburse­
ments from the various funds for which he was considered 
lia b le ; and under these circumstances I  can easily conceive 
that his replies appeared uncertain and unsatisfactory— a 
confidence expressed with apparently no demonstrable 
ground to support it.

44. The eighth point is the one I have alluded to as not 
adm itting o f perfectly satisfactory explanation. Claims on 
the chest appear to have been numerous, and though m any 
of them were unimportant, and many others not claims at 
all, it  is im possible to resist the impression that Lieutenant 
H odson was in  the habit o f keeping men who had claims on 
the chest waiting a long tim e without exam ining their cases 
and clearing accounts with them. It  is the prevailing 
impression w hich  I  cannot resist; for I  cannot think the 
idea fu lly borne out by an examination o f the cases con ■ 
tam ed in your letter, No. 188, o f the 7th o f D ecem ber: to 
the address of the m ajor-general comm anding the Peshawar 
Division, and those mentioned before the court of inquiry.
I  have read through the w hole of these cases, and wish to 
notice particularly the follow ing heads:—

45. Out of (6 4 ) sixty-four cases in all that were brought 
to the notice o f the court, I  find that seven were claims for 
balances of half-m ounting deductions; thirteen were on 
account of sums due either to individuals or Governm ent, as 
estates of deceased or deserted men ; thirteen were cases o f 
fines, civil and m ilitary ; six o f pay forfeited and due to 
G overnm ent; and, lastly, only nine were claim s by in ­
dividuals for arrears of current pay or deductions therefrom, 
w hich  is the point to which I  wish particularly to draw 
attention.

46. The cases of half-m ounting balances were peculiar. 
Lieutenant H odson  stated before the court that with one 
exception the claimants had never made application to him
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for the Money, and further, as the reason o f this, that it had 
not been the custom  to pay anything to the Pathans of the 
neighbouring districts or belonging to countries beyond our 
border, on account of previous deductions for half-m ounting.
I  do not wish to  leave the subject unnoticed, but I must 
allow that I have not carefully exam ined this point. I  
have, however, held conversations with M ajor Lumsden, 
Lieutenant G odby, and the pay jem adar on the subject, and 
the result is a belief that, as a rule, all classes were con­
sidered entitled to these balances, but that th ey  were not 
uniirequently withheld if a m an's character was bad, or if he 
had in jured his arms, or asked for  his discharge im properly.

47. W ith  regard to estates, the system  that had always 
prevailed in  the regim ent was that any sums accruing on 
such accounts were paid into the chest in ordinary course o f 
account, and only paid out again on a clearly established 
claim by  an h e ir ; While all unclaim ed sums, though con­
sidered to be entirely the property o f  Governm ent, remained 
in the undefined balance of the chest. This, in fact, had 
been the m ode in which all m oney due to G overnm ent had 
been treated in the regim ent from  the first, and it would 
have been right to have m entioned this when these cases, 
and those of forfeited pay, were brought to the notice o f  the 
Court.

48. O f the fine cases five were civil, in flicted in due 
cou rse ; three had never been in flic ted ; and five were 
m ilitary, and had been realised— tw o from  bazaar-men and 
three from  soldiers, if I  remem ber right, from  sowars v/ho 
had brought their horses back from  furlough in bad con­
dition. A t  present, if this happens, a man is put on dis­
m ounted pay, which is much the same thing.

49. W ith  regard to the w hole num ber o f cases mentioned,
I m ay say that where Lieutenant H odson's statements in 
reply  refer to the accounts, they are borne out by the facts.
O f scenes and events I have no knowledge.

50. B ut m y particular business is with n in e  cases of 
claims, or asserted claims, for arrears o f current pay or 
excess deductions therefrom. O f tffese, four were incorrect,
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and not eventually a llow ed; two were for sums retrenched 
in the pay-office; one case had been adjusted previou sly ; 
in another the money was in deposit in the hands of a 
native officer; and the ninth was due, and had to be paid, 
but the claimant failed to prove that he had applied to 
Lieutenant Hudson for the money.

51, It must be remembered, at the same time, that 
Lieutenant Godby, who bad, I  believe, been called upon to 
ascertain all claims that existed against Lieutenant Hodson 
with the regiment, gave public notice that all who had 
them to make must speak then or be silent afterwards. It 
is certain, therefore, that every one who thought he had a 
chance of gaining by com ing forward did s o ; and it is a 
very important point in the case, that it should be seen that 
there were no real complaints to bo made on the score of 
pay.

52, W ith  reference to this I  must mention that Lieutenant,
Hodson had, under circumstances of really great, difficulty, 
paid up the whole regiment to the end of October 1854, and 
cleared accounts with every man in it for all the advances 
that each had received while audit was pending. In doing 
th: > the following anomalous occurrence (when judged by 
ordinary rules) took place— namely, that he paid the regi­
ment for the three months o f May, Jnne, and August with 
A ugust’s pay and half June's, aided by a large sum recei ved 
as reaudits on former abstracts, and completed by a sum 
advanced from the chest.

53. I  must put this in figures, for it will be hardly com ­
prehensible or credible without them.

54. I must first mention that the deputy paymaster in 
several instances refunded the whole or a part of an a t t r a c t  
into the Peshawar treasury on account o f previous advances 
received for the corps, merely transmitting to the com ­
manding officer the statement and retrenchment paper, by 
which he learned that whereas, in some former month, he 
had obtained a loan of Company’s Es. 17,000 from the civil 
treasury on his own idea o f what what was due to the 
regiment, only Company’s Ks. 15,000 had eventually been



passed, and the balance had either to be recovered in arrears 
from the men or from the military auditor-general after cor­
respondence and representation, while the abstracts passed 
for the current pay of the regiment were being refunded by 
the paymaster direct into the civil treasury in lieu of these 
former advances.

55. Received by the Guide chest
On the 19th June the audited This whole amount paid into 

pay abstract for May 1854 was the PeaMwar treasury direct by 
received. Total passed after re- the deputy paymaster ou account 
trenchraents, Its. 15,637. of former advances.

On the 25th of July the audited Of this Company's Rs. 7849.12.1
pay abstract for June was received, paid direct by the deputy pay- 
Total passed after retrenchments, master into the Peshawar treasury. 
Rs. 15,570.11.11.

Balance available ou the two months' abstract, Rs. 7720.15.10.

56. The above refunds were not to cover advances for 
the months for which the abstracts were passed, but on 
account of transactions of a long prior date. The audited 
abstract for April 1854, amounting bo Company’s rupees 
20,613.15.10, bad been in the same way paid direct into 
the Peshawar treasury in lieu of advances of the former 
year; and the regiment being left entirely without 'pay, 
Lieutenant Hodson was obliged to get an advance of that 
sum again from the treasury, and it was to repay this 
advance for April, and an outstanding balance of former 
advances, that the above two sums were refunded direct 
into the Peslidwar treasury from the pay of the regiment 
for May and June, leaving Lieutenant Hodson half a 
month’s pay with which to pay the regiment for the two 
months named.

To continue.
57. On the 22nd of August the audited pay abstract for 

July was received. Total passed after retrenchments, Com­
pany’s rupees 17,582.5.10, and the money being received in 
Ml, was disbursed to the regiment— May and June still 
remaining unadjusted.
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On the 22nd of September audited 
abstract for August received in full Its. 17,285 8 3

A lso sums allowed in reaudit to the
amount of . . . . .  13,028 13 7

Rs. 30,314 5 10

58. These reaudits were the property of the chest, having 
been recovered after correspondence on account of sums 
which had been paid from the chest, but audit withheld for 
a time, while the whole of Lieutenant Hodson’s debt to  the 
Peshawar civil treasury had been refunded indiscriminately 
from his passed abstracts,

59. This sum, therefore, was available to make good 
the deficiency in the months of M ay and June, from 
the abstracts of which only the balance before-mentioned 
remained available— namely, Company's
r u p e e s .............................................................  7,720 15 10

Add August’s pay and amount received 
ii; reaudits with it . • • 30,314 5 10

Total by abstracts . . . .  Rs. 38,035 5 ’ 8
Add amount advanced from the 

regimental chest . . . * 8,380 0 <>

Total amount required to pay the 
regiment for May, June, and 
August . . . • > •  lbs, 43,415 5 1 1

60. This above loan from the chest was chiefly composed 
of the pay of the European officers, and the whole was 
subsequently refunded by repayments on the fort account. 
Lieutenant Hodson had advanced about (Com pany’s rupees 
11*000) Company’s rupees eleven thousand in all to the 
fort works, and eventually repaid it on receipt of assign­
ments from the chief engineer; but a portion of the above 
sum, due as officers’ pay, having been suddenly called for, 
he was obliged to obtain a loan from the banker o f Major 
Chamberlain’s corps for the immediate want,-— a slight
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complication, which led to misconstruction in two in ­
stances,

61. The Company’s rupees 46,415.5.11 was disbursed as 
fo llow s:—

Pay of the cavalry for May, June, and August Rs. 2-4,713 t> 8
Ditto, infantry ditto, , 15,900 & 6
European officers and establishments . . .  *  5,801 6 9

Total , . . Rs. 46,415 5 1 i

* European officer*, Lieutenants Hardiuge and Hodson Its. 2125 2 0
Doctor Dalzel . . . . . . 141 12 6
Establish meats . . . . . . . 674 8 0
Arrears to furlough men . . . . .  2960 1 5

Total . . Rs. 5801 8 9

On the 21st of October audited abstracts for September 
were received in full and disbursed to the regiment. On 
the .18th o f Novem ber those for October were received and 
disbursed.

62. I would draw attention to the dates on which these 
abstracts were received and audited in all the months I 
have mentioned, as they are good evidence that the monthly 
papers were made out and sent off regularly and without 
delay. During m y command I have had difficulty in 
ensuring the receipt of pay in time to complete the 
disbursement of one month before the close of the 
following one.

63. Thus by the expedient above described, and by keep 
log  the men alive with petty advances, Lieutenant Hodson 
avoided the necessity o f again applying for an advance 
from the civil treasury, which system, unavoidable under 
the circumstances, had caused such confusion and difficulty 
in his accounts; and on the disbursement o f October's pay 
(which took place on the last days of Novem ber and the 
beginning o f December) the whole pay accounts of the 
regiment had been put on a sound footing. The advances 
previously made as subsistence to the men had been re­
covered (a necessity which fell heavy on many that had
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forestalled their pay b y  advances begged from the chest), 
and the long outstanding difficulties connected with the 
pay o f the regiment had been overcome,

64. It was almost immediately after this that a court 
w as assembled to inquire into Lieutenant Hodson’s con­
duct in the matter of Feroze Khan's horse, and he never 
rejoined his appointm ent; hut he left the regiment paid 
up to elate, and all the long-pending accounts of the men 
squared, and though complaints were, as I have before 
shown, invited, no valid ones were made on the score of
current pay or excess deductions.

65. W ith regard, then, to the outstanding claims against 
the chest which Lieutenant Hudson had failed to examine 
and clear off, it is, I  think, a fair presumption that as he 
had with careful endeavour surmounted his chief difficulty, 
he would eventually have adjusted all minor matters as 
w e ll; and further, that as there were, as you will see by 
the balance-sheet, as many and as large sums due to the 
chest as claimable from it when Lieutenant Hodson’s con­
duct became the subject of inquiry, placing the credits and 
debits of this nature in juxtaposition considerably softens 
the unfavourable aspect of the eighth point under notice.

66. I enclose the following papers, which will, 1 hope, 
fu lly  explain the nature of the account and the mode of 
its final adjustm ent:—

(1) General summary o f receipts and disbursements
from, the 10th of M arch 1853 to 3.1st Decem ber 
1864.

(2 ) General balanced ledger of the above period,
(3 ) Statement o f balance. / '
(4 ) Detail of ditto as far as known.
67 Such is the account. I  may briefly sup up my 

opinion by saying that I believe it to be a n 'honest and 
correct record from  beginning to end. It  has been irregu­
larly kept, but every transaction, from the least to the 
greatest, has been noted in it, and is traceable to the in­
dividuals concerned; for it must be remembered that while 
we have been sitting in committee on the accounts at
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Mnrdan, nearly every man mentioned in the transactions 
of the chest has been present with the regim ent and 
throughout the inquiry t have found Lieutenant H u dson 's  
statements borne out by the facts of the case, while in 
some instances where doubts had been engendered by a 
want o f knowledge o f details they were removed by w ork­
ing through the mhmtne o f  the account. A t  the same 
time, though the account was faithfully kept, it  was not 
systematically checked ; and you w ill see that several con  ­
siderable mistakes and miseredifcings remain to be corrected .
Both Lieutenant Hodson and D r L yell have received over- 
credits in their private accounts which they have to make 
good, and two sums are found to be due to M ajor Lumsden 
and Lieutenant M ille r ; an item  of error in account is due 
by Moonshee N ujjuf A llee, and several smaller sums due 
from Governm ent on account of pay can only be recovered 
by special audit.

68. These are the shimmings of an irregular u n ch eck ed  
account of tw o years’ standing. They argue want of system, 
and are only explicable on the grounds that inquiry broke 
in while adjustment was in progress; but, on the other 
hand, I do not for a moment regard them as suspicious, nor 
would the members of a court of inquiry view them as 
such, should one eventually he ordered for the exam in­
ation o f the accounts, when the adoption or amendment of 
this statement would probably form  the basis of their 
report.

69. The explanation is, as I have before shown, that 
Lieutenant Hodson had on ly  just emerged from his chief 
difficulty— namely, the confused state o f the current pay 
of the regim ent ■ when he became involved in other 
troubles which prevented his applying him self to a thorough 
balancing of the whole account, and without that no clear­
ance could be effected. But this tank would have required 
•;>vn from him a large portion of the labour and application 
which was eventually found necessary for it, though of 
course he (Lieutenant H odson) could have taken large
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divisions of the account for granted as correct which we 
have been obliged to work through step by s tep ; and I do 
not think it extraordinary that, engaged as he was in other 
duties, he did not manage to find time for this,

70. A natural course would have been for Lieutenant 
Hodson to have made more use than he appears to have 
done of his natural assistants —  namely, his subordinate 
officers; and I can answer for one who has been present 
with the regiment during the period of my command, having 
had every qualification to render him an efficient assistant; 
but with regard to this it is fair to mention that in the 
latter part of 1854 he was a good deal alone, Lieutenant 
God by being on leave for several months in the autumn, 
and Lieutenant Turner having been attached, from July o f 
that year I believe, to another corps.

71, Lieutenant Hodson had civil and political charge of 
Eusufrye, and had further the building of a large fort to 
superintend, and the two duties were calculated in a great 
measure to distract hie attention from regimental matters ; 
still I have shown that he certainly did not neglect them, 
and that the state of the regiment, as regarded the most 
important item of pay, was healthy, and supported by 
regular distribution rolls, &c., while the collateral accounts 
of Chunda and clothing were fully kept, and had been the 
subject of care and labour. Trie accounts of the regiment 
were made over to Moonshee Goordeal in April 1854, and 
from that time the vernacular cash-book was kept ac­
curately and clearly. A  regular Ghunda account, con­
taining every necessary detail, had been kept up from July 
1853. From April 1854 regular distribution rolls, con­
taining full details of all deductions and the balance paid 
to each individual, were regularly kept; also vernacular 
copies of the pay abstracts with details of retrenchments 
and deductions in the pay office; also a separate debtor 
and creditor account, showing each soldier r transactions 
with the chest, and the sum deducted from him on account 
of clothing, accoutrements, &c. AM these books have come

' GOlfe\
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greatly into employment in making out the account. A 
monthly balancing of the transaction of the cash-book 
would have kept all clear.

72. I should mention that where I have alluded to what 
occurred before the court of inquiry I have drawn my 
information from Lieutenant Hudson's transcript of the 
proceedings, which, I believe, he wrote down from the 
dictation of the deputy judge advocate - general. Any 
allusion of mine that appears incorrect can be immediately 
set right by reference to the original papers.

73. This statement has run to a great length; a short 
one would scarcely have matched the rest of the pro­
ceedings in the case. I am aware that I. have in one 
instance noticed a matter (that of the horse purchased 
from Feroze Khan) which must have been fully examined 
and reported on by the court of inquiry. As the case, 
however, involved four entries in the books, the credibility 
of which it was the main part of my duty to ascertain and 
report upon, I do not think that there can be impropriety 
in my noticing it : la m  quite unaware of the opinion given 
by the court on the subject, and therefore X cannot be 
supposed to be anxious to oppose or amend it. I merely 
give my own opinion on what has come under my notice, 
and if I have entered into more details than was actually 
necessary, 1 am sure that the fact of lieutenant Hudson's 
honesty and honour having been assailed with regard to 
this regimental account, and my examination of the ease 
having convinced me that there was nothing whatever in 
the accounts to afford grounds for the imputation, and, 
moreover, that he had had most unusual difficulties to 
contend with, will sufficiently account for my doing my 
best to show that I have demonstrable grounds for the 
opinion I have formed.

74. Lieutenant Godby, who assisted me throughout the 
laborious examination of the accounts with a wish to 
understand them himself and do Lieutenant Hudson every 
justice, appends a certificate to this statement to the effect
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that he is perfectly satisfied with regard to the correctness 
of the whole account.— I have the honour to be, sir, your 
most obedient servant,

Reynell G. Taylor Major,
Late Commandant Guide Corps.

True copy. Reynell G. Taylor, Major,
Deputy Commissioner.

From Major Meynell G. Taylor, late officiating Commandant 
Guide Corps, to Major M, B. Lumsdcn, Commandant 
Guide Corps. Dated Jhelum, Idth February 1856.

Sir,-—In your demi-official letter of the 31st ultimo to 
my address you say that from your recollection of my 
report on Lieutenant Hudson's accounts, which I have 
read to you at Peshawar, you think that the tenor of it 
will convey the impression that you had made over the 
accounts of the regiment to Lieutenant Hodson in such a 
state that all his subsequent difficulties were the natural 
result of it.

2. I take, therefore, this opportunity of saying distinctly 
that it is very far from my intention to convey the idea 
that you unfairly bequeathed labour and difficulty to your 
successor,

3. It is, indeed, very clearly my opinion that one of the 
chief causes of the difficulties which subsequently occurred 
was the undefined balance of the chest, which not having 
been clearly ascertained and set aside at first by Lieutenant 
Hodson, vitiated the whole of the subsequent accounts; 
but this view of the case does not affect you: the diffi­
culties you had had to contend with were great and well 
known, and on leaving you left large balances, both public 
and private, in the chest, while you believe that all was 
then intelligible if Lieutenant Hodson had taken, pains to 
master the difficulty at once.
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4. This he certainly did not do, as I have described in 
m y  report; and though you may be correct in your memory 
and belief, you must not quarrel with me if, as ] have in 
the course of this inquiry encountered a good deal of inade­
quate appreciation of the difficulty of working up arrears 
of long-unchecked accounts, I still retain an opinion that 
the task of clear and rapid comprehension n ight have 
proved more difficult than you suppose.

5. But all that I wish to point out is, that the task of 
detailing the large balance of the chest was never accom­
plished. I have conversed with all the officers concerned, 
and none of them wished, or pretended to say, that it 
had been; still this would not hav< so much signified if 
Lieutenant Hudson had made strenuous efforts at once, 
on taking charge, to ascertain the exact amount of this 
balance, and had set it aside as a distinct item due by Mm.
This he did not do, seeing no urgent necessity for it, and 
the money came and went as it was paid in or properly 
called for; and in the end he positively did not know the 
real sum he was liable for. It is not my intention to 
defend this, though perhaps carried away by my subject, 
and thinking of the far worse things that; were laid to his 
charge, I have written warmly in my report as if there was 
nothing to be quarrelled with. I only contend that all was 
natural and explicable, and in a great measure brought on 
by circumstances.

6. There are many things, I am aware, that appear in 
Lieutenant Hodson’s final balance-sheet which are utterly 
indefensible as matters of regular regimental account, and 
I have not wished to defend them. At the same time, I do 
not think it would be right or generous to condemn him 
for them under the circumstances of the case, considering 
the efforts he had made to clear the pay accounts, and the 
way in which he was brought to a sudden stop, after which 
the adjustment of any items would have been improper 
and suspicious. The fact of mistakes being worked out in 
an account by labour and careful examination is satisfactory
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proof of the honesty of the record, though sad evidence of 
its not having been carefully checked.

7. In forwarding the papers to the m ilitary secretary to 
the Chief Commissioner, I have noted all the items which 
are, I  consider, irrecoverable or doubtful: they include those 
you allude to. The amount under both heads, however, 
will not exceed 250 rupees, and the bulk of the balance 
ought to be realised without difficulty.

8. Now I  am going to say what you must know full well 
— namely, that the task that has employed me more or less 
during the whole time that I have been with the regiment 
has been a m ost uncomfortable one, as it has placed me to 
a certain extent in the position of a sc:utini or, and in a 
slight measure condemner, o f  the acts o f men whose services 
to Government have been greater than my own. I hope I 
need not say that the duty would never have been entered 
into as fully as it has but for the hope of assisting a man 
whose case had been submitted to me, and whom I believe 
to be to a great extent a victim of circumstances, while 
I considered bis honour clear in all that came under my 
notice.

9. The whole papers in Lieutenant Hudson's case go in 
to-day, and a copy of this letter accompanies them.—  1 have 
the honour to be, sir, your most obedient servant,

Eeynell G. Taylor, Major, 
late officiating Commandant Guide Corps,

True copy.
Reynell G. Taylor, Major,

Deputy Commissioner,
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APPENDIX B.
The following correspondence seems to indicate the un­
kindly spirit in which Major H. Edwardes, the Commissioner 
of Peshawar, took up the case of Khadir Khan against his 
alleged oppressor. It is evident from Hodson’s answers to 
the questions put by Captain Cripps that the PathUn chief 
of Turn was not the sort of man whose word could be 
trusted in any dispute with an English officer.

No. 67.

From Captain J. M, Cripps, A.C., to Lt, Hodson, late in 
civil charge of Ynsafzai. Fated Mardan, 2nd August 
1855.

Sir,— Being at present engaged in investigating the 
claims of Khadir Khan of Turn to compensation for losses 
sustained by him to the extent of C. Ivs. 15,151.7.3 (exclu­
sive of some bonds for large sums of money) whilst in 
confinement at Peshawar, I have to request the favour of 
being furnished with information on the following points:—

1st, At the time of confiscation of the Khan’s property 
was any person placed in charge of his dwelling-house at 
Tu.ru and the property contained within it ; also, if a list of 
such property was prepared ?

2nd, If any property was taken out of the small house 
situated within the enclosure around the Khan’s estate, the 
door of which was nailed up ?

3rd, If the attachment of the property took place in
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presence of any of the friends or relations of the Khan, and 
if so, who were they ?

4th, I f  the cash taken from the house of Shaikh Mian 
a was counted in your presence; and was the Shaikh present 

at such time ?
5th, W ere any camels of the K han’s em ployed in co n ­

veying materials to the Fort, and if so, how many and at 
what rate o f hire ?

2nd, A  few  days subsequent to m y arrival in Yusafzai I 
proceeded to Turu, and broke open the door o f the small 
house alluded to in 2nd question. The only property 
discovered consisted o f some shawls and chogm much 
damaged by dam p; but in one corner there was a large 
chest which had evidently been broken open, and the Khan 
states that in that chest were contained his m ost valuable 
jew els, none o f which are forthcoming.

3rd, I  shall be obliged for any information you can supply 
regarding the proceedings taken at the tim e o f confiscation, 
to enable me to arrive at some decision regarding the just­
ness or otherwise o f the K han’s claims.— I have the honour 
to be, sir, your m ost obedient servant,

J, M. C kipps, A.C.

N o. 106.

To Captain Cripps, Ass1. Commissuner, Ytmifzai.
Dated Martian, Sept. 4th, 1855.

Sir,—I regret that 1 have been unable to reply earlier to 
your letter, No. 67, dated 2nd ulto.

I reply to your questions in the order in  which they 
occur.

1st, Khadir K han’s property was not “ confiscated”  on 
his arrest. I t  was attached by m y orders, with a view  to 
its safety. H is house, cattle, and horses were left in charge 
o f his own family, The acting tkanadar o f Mardan, Kahmat 
A li, was placed with 4 barlandmes at the exterior gateway

' G°l&X '
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of Khadir Khan’s house to prevent any of the live stock or 
horses or other property being taken away. As far as I 
recollect, a list of the live stock was made out. This. I 
conclude, will be among the vernacular file of papers con­
nected with the proceedings.

2ndly, The property contained in the chest in the small 
house alluded to in your 2nd. question and 2nd paragraph 
was opened in my presence, and the property it contained 
(consisting of ornaments, a few jewels., and gold and silver 
trinkets) taken out before me. The whole (together with 
some books and papers) was taken by me to cam; and 
placed in a box (secured by a letter-lock which could be 
opened by no one but myself) under the guard at my tents.
A  detailed list o f the contents was made out in m y presence 
and carefully compared by myself, and eventually the whole 
was handed over by me personally after a strict comparison 
with the list. This list is, or was, on the file. Thus I am 
in a position to state with confidence that the whole pro­
perty so recorded was produced and made over. Where­
fore, supposing that the property detailed in the list referred 
to was restored to Khadir Khan, his statement as to the 
contents o f the chest not being forthcoming must be entirely 
false,

3rdly, The Khan’s brother and son and several of h'S 
people were present when the search above mentioned took 
place, and when the property was removed. The son him­
self handed over to me some of the book;- and papers.

4thly, The cash taken from the house of Shaik Mian was 
not counted in m y presence, but at the tahsii

5tldy, Some camels of Khadir K han’s were employed on 
the public works. They were fed, the sowars employed on 
them were paid regular wages, and pack-saddles, 4c., made 
up and repaired for them. A ll such sums were paid out of 
public works account and charged in my bills. At this 
distance of time I  cannot state numbers or rates from 
memory. The female and young camels and those unfit 
for work were left with the family.

2. W ith regard to your last par., I  shall be glad to give
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you information on any point in my power. The attach­
ment was conducted by myself personally to ensure no 
injury being done or annoyance given to the women of the 
family. There was scarcely any property of any kind in 
rh'.* place save horses, cattle, and corn, none of which were 
removed; with the single exception of the contents of the 
chest already alluded to. If these have been made over to 
the Khan, together with the live stock, I should unhesitat­
ing iy say that he can have suffered no loss of any property 
which was visible on his estate at the time of the attach­
ment,—I ha/ve, &c.,

W. B. H.

2 B
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I n his ‘ Itecollections o f a H ighland S ubaltern ’ (E, Arnold, 
1898), Lieut,-Colonel W . G ordon-A lexandcr gives the fo llow ­
ing trustworthy account o f w hat happened just after the 
storm ing o f the Begam’s Palace :•—

“ As f turned round again towards the breach, I noticed 
two officers, whom  I took to be on the staff, clam bering 
over it, and when they reached the bottom  on the inside, 
proceed arm -in-arm  to skirt, the wall o f the platform  on 
which the mosque stood, and, m erely glancing at the firing 
going on in our corner, m ake for the passage or lane w hich 
led to their right. Believing that this lane was bordered 
by room s harbouring desperate fellow s in concealm ent, 
sim ilar to those at the gateway we were then dealing 
with, I  called to a man of m y com pany below to run 
towards these two officers, one o f whom  I had just recog­
nised as H odson o f H odson ’s Horse, aud warn them to 
be careful. A s I  was descending the ladder to terra firm# 
a trem endous explosion made me pause and turn round, to 
witness what was evidently the explosion o f  the large mine 
at the breach where the right w ing had entered. . . .

“  The m an I had sent across the court to warn Hodson 
was the ‘ funny m a n ' o f No. 6 com pany, called John 
Dougherty, a G lasgow Irishm an, . . .  A s  there was no 
further need for m e in that corner, and m y men o f No.
6 com pany were on ly hanging about waiting for  the sepoys 
penned in to the gateway (B  in plan) to be blown up, I 
called out to them, when I had descended the ladder, to 
follow  me, and doubled across the courtyard after H odson 
and his friend. D ougherty, unfortunately, did not catch



( 1 ( g )i  (C T  i
V , 4 \ j/ \ I . r _* m> A*f-y

NSS'*g z j
g ig  h u  . i“  J«c \ «S& I £
i:n 3  \ X iu d u a  A q d n ? / / n g \  * •< ca j
u-~j \ 9} bo ureM  - * ■%

\ y  ; i 11II jL -e  I y  |?
o \N 1 o = = I g

uj \ c  = = . s
=3-- \ " 3  ̂J2
crs: \ ) *u' Si E*“ ° ' "w * i \ ^  S 3  wi Eo o \ :$V S> E 3 i s\ QC E| I t

\ v\P'''xS «** '* ^

«&{ s i  ii ill
-i:a J

H  ^  i 1  s |
. i  n  g= % ■?I “-■ n i ii i s

1  11 » j

1 * i l B  B II Iff
1 j m i  ii ij if"3 *■ m  ^ o ^-• •- !....T ■■ m m. V̂r* SA . ................ . njypT—yy

i§|§ C :•??' ,; |I  s 1 H-JL-*p u
f|  i i;-SV ft} ' Tp.’l  W %* -'\ < s «nj -2V w, Cj- A vVoIvS>\« ŝr- ■ ° ,vKSy sCji | tip
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them up, and before they had gone m any yards down the 
passage (P P P) which ran along out of our square at the 
back o f the mosque, Hudson turned into the first doorway 
he came to on his right (the only doorway on that side of 
the passage), which opened into the foot of a narrow short 
staircase (m arked H  on the plan) leading up into the 
mosque above; Im m ediately one or two shots were fired, 
and Hudson staggered back D ougherty never stopped, 
but ran in to the door and pinned the man wrho shot 
Hodson with his bayonet before he had tim e to re­
load.1 There was only one. other sepoy in the doorway, 
and he was bayoneted to o ; and when they were both 
hauled out into the roadway I  noticed the stair, up which

' Colonel Malleson, at p. 271 of his fourth volume, thus records Hodson’s 
death: fijffe had jo in ed  the storm in y-party, had entered the breach with 
Robert Napier, a n d  had been separated fr o m  h im  in  the mSUe, He was 
not wounded during the storm ; but after the broach had been gained, 
he rushed fo rw a r d  to seek f o r  sepoys who might, be concealed in the dark 
rooms and recesses of the palace.” 1 must here draw attention to the 
facts, which I can personally vouch for arid have recorded in the text, 
which traverse ail the statements put by me in italics in the above 
quotation. Major Hodson did not join our stonning-parby, and could nob 
have found any position in it if lie had ; ho was in no wi$Ue, but walked 
in quietly arm-in-arm with his friend, Brigadier Napier, over the left 
breach, and therefore “ rushed” nowhere.

As Colonel Malieson has recorded in his History his own opinion that 
the execution by Hodson himself of the “ princes of the Bouse of Taimur ” 
was “ needless slaughter,” I here venture to assert that he would not have 
found two men amongst the magnificent heroes of the Delhi besieging 
force, not three among Sir Colin Campbell's relief and siege of Lucknow 
force in D-57 and 1858, who would have agreed with him.

As to the unsupported assertion by the author of ‘ The Life of Lord 
Lawrence,’ Professor Bc«.worth Smith, that Hodson was “ killed in the act 
of looting in a house in Lucknow,” Mr Smith never answered either my 
challenge, published in the 1 St James's Gazette ’ and dated May 23, 1883, 
nor the challenges of other eyewitnesses of Hodson’e death which appeared 
in other London newspapers, including the ‘ .Daily News,’ about the same 
time, denying the base accusation—challenges which certainly called for the 
production of the evidence upon which such a charge could be based by 
Mr Smith; or, failing that, for an ample apology for having ventured to 
make such a charge. Mr Smith ought not only to have admitted that he 
had been misinformed, but to have apologised for propagating such a 
slander. He did neither.

/ ' y A m  ■
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two more of my men mounted step by step, prodding with 
their bayonets above them till they ascertained there were 
no more Paudies in hiding there.

“ When I re-emerged from the staircase Hodson had 
been borne away, and his friend, who, I afterwards heard, 
was our chief engineer, Brigadier Robert Napier, had also 
disappeared.”
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T he following verses by Sir Mortimer Durand, K.C.S.L, 
appeared In an Indian newspaper shortly after Hodson’s 
death* They have since been quoted by Mr David lioss 
in his ‘ Land of the Five Fivers and Sindh.’ They are 
supposed to represent, th feelings of an old Sikh warrior, 
Attar Singh :—
u I rode to Delhi with Hudson ; there were three of toy father's sons ;
Two of them died at the foot o f the Badge, in the line of the Mori’s 

guns,
I  followed him on when the great town fe l l ; he was cruel and cold, 

they said *
The men were sobbing around me the day that I saw him dead.

It  is not soft words that a soldier wants; we know what he was in 
fight;

And we love the man that can lead us, ay, though his face be white.

*
And when the time shall come, sahib, as come full well it may,
When all things are not fair and bright, as all things seem to-day,
When foes are rising round you fast, and friends are few and cold,
And half a yard of trusty steel is worth a prince's gold,
’Remember Hudson trusted us, and trust the old blood too,
And as we followed him— to death -ou r  sons will follow you,”
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